STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

ORIGINAL

—————
Certiorari to Sumter County

Honorable R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge
—————

WAYNE D. COOPER,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2018-001507
—————

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
PURSUANT TO AUSTIN V. STATE
—————

TAYLOR D GILLIAM
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

RECEIVED

JUL 22 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether the PCR court erred in finding that trial counsel rendered constitutionally effective assistance of counsel where counsel failed to establish an alibi defense through a time, speed, and distance calculation which showed it was impossible for Petitioner to have shot the decedent, driven over twenty-eight miles, and arrived at work sixteen minutes later as evidenced by video footage viewed by the state's lead investigator?

STATEMENT

Petitioner was indicted by a Sumter County grand jury for murder on or about April 5, 2007. He proceeded to trial before the Honorable Howard P. King on November 10, 2008. App. 1. Arthur Wilder represented Petitioner, and Jason Corbett served as the assistant solicitor. After a four-day trial, the jury found Petitioner guilty as indicted. App. 803 ll. 1 – 7. Judge King sentenced him to forty years' imprisonment. App. 817 ll. 18 – 22.

Petitioner's conviction was affirmed. State v. Cooper, Op. No. 2011-UP-544 (S.C. Ct. App. filed December 6, 2011. On or about June 25, 2012, Petitioner filed a timely application for post-conviction relief. App. 820 – 827. It contained a handwritten addendum which articulated allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. Id. The state made its Return on or about January 25, 2013. App. 828 – 832.

An evidentiary hearing took place before the Honorable R. Knox McMahon on October 1, 2013. App. 833. David Holler represented Petitioner, and Daniel F. Gourley appeared on behalf of the state. Trial counsel testified at the hearing. At the conclusion of the evidentiary hearing, the PCR judge requested proposed orders within thirty days. App. 942 ll. 1 – 2. On December 9, 2013, an Order of Dismissal was filed. App. 946 – 953. The PCR court found in a rather nondescript fashion, that counsel sufficiently argued in favor of an alibi defense. App. 950 – 951. A notice of appeal was not filed following the issuance of that Order.

As a result, Petitioner filed a second application for post-conviction relief, on December 8, 2014. App. 954 – 958. He requested relief in the form of an appeal from the denial of his post-conviction relief application. App. 957. The state made its Return on March 30, 2015. App. 959 – 962.

A hearing was held before the Honorable Steven H. John on July 15, 2015. App. 963. F. Casey Dale Cornwell represented Petitioner, and Daniel Gourley again appeared on behalf of the state. The state submitted that Petitioner was entitled to belated review, which the court granted. App. 967 ll. 9 – 24. An Order Granting An Appeal Pursuant to Austin v. State¹ was filed on September 7, 2015. App. 973 – 975. A notice of appeal was not filed following the issuance of this Order.

Petitioner filed a third application for post-conviction relief on January 29, 2018. App. 977 – 998. The state made its Return on June 25, 2019. App. 1000 – 1004. The state consented to the granting of Austin relief for the original PCR action. Id. An Order Granting An Appeal Pursuant to Austin v. State signed by the Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran was filed in July 2018. App. 1009 – 1012.

This petition follows.

¹ 305 S.C. 453, 409 S.E.2d 395 (1991).

ARGUMENT

The PCR court erred in finding that trial counsel rendered constitutionally effective assistance of counsel where counsel failed to establish an alibi defense through a time, speed, and distance calculation which showed it was impossible for Petitioner to have shot the decedent, driven over twenty-eight miles, and arrived at work sixteen minutes later as evidenced by video footage viewed by the state's lead investigator.

It was near impossible for Petitioner to make the drive from where the shooting took place to his place of employment where he was seen clocking in on video, a drive of over twenty-eight miles, in the timeframe offered by the state at trial. Counsel failed to establish reasonable doubt through an alibi defense, thus depriving Petitioner, a man with no prior record charged with murder, of effective representation.

Relevant facts

At the outset of the evidentiary hearing, PCR counsel requested a continuance; he had not had a chance to “adequately review” the transcript and prepare. App. 836 l. 8 – App. 838 l. 18. The state responded that the case had already been continued once, and the motion was denied. Id.

Trial counsel was appointed to represent Petitioner on September 18, 2006 and represented him through trial. App. 840 ll. 8 – 11; App. 901 ll. 12 – 24. Counsel filed a notice of alibi. App. 850 ll. 5 – 8. Counsel hired an investigator, John Johnson. App. 840 ll. 12 – 22. Based upon an alleged confession, counsel pursued a self-defense theory. App. 845 ll. 6 – 22. At the evidentiary hearing, however, PCR counsel methodically established an alibi defense that could have been utilized at trial.

On the morning of September 2, 2008, Petitioner clocked in to work at 6:12 a.m. App. 848 ll. 7 – 24. While counsel was unable to obtain the videotape of Petitioner arriving at work, the state’s lead investigator, Jamie Turner, looked at the surveillance video and testified accordingly. App. 850 ll. 9 – 23. The 911 call was made at 5:58 a.m., five minutes after the shooting. App. 867 ll. 2 – 20; App. 868 l. 10 – App. 869 l. 15. Therefore, the time of the shooting was established as 5:53 a.m. App. 889 ll. 10 – 19. Petitioner arrived at his place of employment at 6:09 a.m. and clocked in three minutes later. App. 881 ll. 1 – 25.

Turner testified at Petitioner’s trial that it took him approximately thirty-two minutes to make the drive from where the shooting occurred to Petitioner’s employer. App. 872 ll. 2 – 22; App. 419 l. 19 – App. 420 l. 15. He also testified that he made the drive “one night late at night coming back from Columbia” in twenty-two minutes. Id. Counsel declined to cross-examine Turner on the assertion that he was able to complete the drive in twenty-two minutes.

The distance calculated by PCR counsel was approximately twenty-eight and a half miles. App. 878 l. 6 – App. 879 l. 11. The state stipulated to the same. Id. Based upon a speed of seventy miles per hour, it would have taken an individual almost twenty-eight minutes to reach Petitioner’s place of employment. App. 883 l. 25 – App. 885 l. 13. At sixty miles per hour, it would have taken over thirty-two minutes. App. 885 l. 19 – App. 886 l. 12. At fifty miles per hour: almost thirty-nine minutes. App. 886 ll. 4 – 12. Therefore, in order to comply with the state’s timeline established at trial, Petitioner would have had to traveled over one hundred and twenty miles per hour to be in the parking lot at work on time:

Consistent with that, if we take 5:53 as the time of the shooting, we know that if the State’s case is right, Mr. Cooper has to go 28.2 miles to clock in at work. If we used our time, speed, distance calculator, he would have had to have averaged 121.69 miles per hour on his trip to Columbia.

App. 889 ll. 10 – 19. In response, counsel remarked that he did the best he could under the circumstances. App. 889 l. 10 – App. 890 l. 13. He vacillated when asked whether a reasonable defense attorney could have argued that the time, speed, and distance formula showed it was impossible for Petitioner to be at the location where the shooting occurred, although he admitted it could have changed the outcome of the trial. App. 890 ll. 5 – 19.

As noted by trial counsel, “[m]ath ... has been available since Archimedes.” App. 888 ll. 11 – 15. PCR counsel thoroughly explained the calculations which plainly set forth the reasonable doubt surrounding the state’s suggestion that Petitioner drove almost thirty miles in approximately twenty minutes. He was equally meticulous in pointing out how counsel could have made this argument to the jury at Petitioner’s trial:

And a reasonable criminal defense attorney coming out of school would rely upon something as simple as time, speed, and distance to figure out whether he’d been there. You didn’t have your investigator measure the distance, you didn’t cross examine Jamie Turner who said it could be done in 22 minutes. You didn’t put up anything about the distance and the time it would take to travel?

App. 891 ll. 3 – 23. In turn, counsel remarked that he trusted Turner and believed he told the truth. Id. PCR counsel then calculated the speed required to travel twenty-eight and one fifth miles in twenty-two minutes: over eighty-eight miles per hour. App. 892 ll. 1 – 25. Counsel responded, “I kind of doubt he went 88 miles an hour.” Id.

When asked whether he had adequately argued the alibi defense, trial counsel answered in the negative: “If I had adequately address it, he would have been found not guilty.” App. 917 ll. 7 – 10.

Discussion

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees criminal defendants the right to the effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 684-86 (1984).

A PCR applicant has the burden of proving his entitlement to relief by a preponderance of the evidence. Wigington v. State, 413 S.C. 578, 584, 776 S.E.2d 407, 410 (Ct. App. 2015) (citing Thompson v. State, 340 S.C. 112, 115, 531 S.E.2d 294, 296 (2000) and Rule 71.1(e), SCRCF). To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, “the defendant must show that counsel’s performance was deficient” and “that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense.” Id. at 687. “When a convicted defendant complains of the ineffectiveness of counsel’s assistance, the defendant must show that counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness.” Id. at 687-688. “[T]he performance inquiry must be whether counsel’s assistance was reasonable considering all the circumstances.” Id. at 688. Concerning prejudice, “a defendant need not show that counsel’s deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome in the case.” Rather, “[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” Id. at 694.

This Court recently reversed the denial of a PCR application and remanded for a new trial in Martin v. State, Op. No. 27900 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed July 17, 2019) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 29 at 8). In that matter, trial counsel failed to elicit a specific timeframe from Martin’s mother which would have established that he was 150 miles away from a bank one hour and five minutes before it was robbed. Using the speed, distance, and time calculation, Martin would have had to traveled one hundred and thirty-eight miles per hour to reach the bank in North Augusta from Atlanta. Martin alleged that his trial attorneys were ineffective for failing to elicit specific testimony from his mother regarding the specific timeline of his alibi, and this Court held that as a matter of law, “Petitioner’s trial attorneys were deficient for not eliciting the specific alibi timeline testimony from Petitioner’s mother.” Id.

In Glover v. State, 318 S.C. 496, 497, 458 S.E.2d 538, 539 (1995), the applicant presented the testimony of the two witnesses who he claimed would have testified that he was in Florida at 8:30 *a.m.* on the day when the crimes were committed. A majority of this Court found that the witnesses' testimony did not foreclose the possibility that Glover could have committed the crimes at 8:30 *p.m.* in light of testimony that Williamsburg County was only a six and a half hour drive from the witness' home in Florida. 318 S.C. at 498, 458 S.E.2d at 540. Thus, Glover's witnesses did not provide an alibi. Id.

In Walker v. State, 407 S.C. 400, 756 S.E.2d 144 (2014), this Court reversed the Court of Appeals' holding that the applicant was not prejudiced by trial counsel's failure to interview the defendant's former girlfriend as a potential alibi witness. Walker was accused of kidnapping and sexual assault. 407 S.C. at 403, 756 S.E.2d at 145. The Victim reviewed surveillance footage from the gas station where she alleged that she met her assailant, who offered to help her when her car would not start. Id. A gas station employee identified Walker as the man pointed out by the Victim on the video. Id. When interviewed by police, Walker admitted going to the gas station but denied offering any help to anyone there or any involvement with the alleged victim. Id. He said he spent the afternoon and evening at a friend's home and then returned to his girlfriend Robina Reed's home around 9:30 or 10:00 *p.m.* for the remainder of the night. Id.

Following his conviction, Walker filed for PCR, alleging that his trial counsel was ineffective in failing to conduct an adequate investigation. 407 S.C. at 403, 756 S.E.2d at 146. Walker's trial counsel admitted reviewing video of the police interview and had "Robina Reed" in her notes to interview but never did. Id. Though she said that her investigator spoke with or tried to speak with Reed, trial counsel never followed up with her investigator. Id. at 403-04, 756 S.E.2d at 146. Reed testified that she was never contacted about Walker's case and did not

know why he disappeared in May 2002 until his PCR attorney contacted her. Id. at 404, 756 S.E.2d at 146. Though she could not provide specific dates and times, she testified that she and Walker spent every weekend together prior to his arrest. Id. The PCR court granted Walker's application, but the Court of Appeals reversed, finding that Walker's trial counsel was deficient but that Walker was not prejudiced. Id.

This Court recognized that Reed's testimony at Walker's PCR hearing vacillated but finally settled on an answer that "prior to Walker's arrest, she and Walker spent every weekend together." 407 S.C. at 406, 756 S.E.2d at 147. Thus, there was evidence to support the PCR court's conclusion that Reed's testimony reasonably could have resulted in a different outcome at trial. Id. "If true and construed as meaning at least that Walker and Reed spent every night together on the weekends prior to his arrest, it would be physically impossible for Walker to have committed the kidnapping and assaults." Id. "In other words, unlike *Glover* where the testimony of the alibi witnesses could have been true and the petitioner still could have committed the crime, it is not possible for Reed's testimony to be true and for Walker to have committed the crime." Id. at 406-07, 756 S.E.2d at 147.

While Walker involved a failure to investigate, trial counsel's failure to utilize alibi evidence that was in plain sight is no less egregious than a failure to investigate alibi altogether. Here, like Walker, had the jury been presented with and believed testimony that Petitioner would have had to drive over one hundred miles per hour to clock in at 6:12 a.m., it could have concluded that Petitioner was not the shooter. Trial counsel knew the timeframe involved and knew or could have determined the distance between the two locations; his investigator could have measured the distance, or counsel could have used a mapping service such as Google Maps.

The resulting calculations would have shown the impossibility of Petitioner changing clothes and arriving at work after supposedly having shot the decedent.

When asked on cross-examination to characterize the state's evidence against Petitioner, trial counsel bluntly described the eyewitness testimony as lousy. App. 923 l. 20 – App. 924 l. 20. He refused to refer to it as overwhelming evidence of guilt. Id.

Here, there is a reasonable probability, sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome, that Petitioner's trial would have been different had the alibi defense been properly presented to the jury. “[T]he Constitution guarantees criminal defendants “a meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense.” Crane v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 683, 690, 106 S.Ct. 2142, 2146 (1986).

One witness at trial, Mary Green, testified that she knocked on a door and called 911 five minutes after the shooting. App. 238 l. 8 – App. 239 l. 23. If the call was made at 5:58 a.m., five minutes after the shooting, Petitioner would have had to have traveled over twenty-eight miles in sixteen minutes at a speed of over one hundred miles per hour. App. 927 l. 17 – App. 13. Near the end of the evidentiary hearing, trial counsel appeared to accept PCR counsel's rationale: “Now, Mr. Holler may have a point. Maybe I should have put the math up there, maybe that would have helped.” App. 929 ll. 21 – 23.

Petitioner was prejudiced by trial counsel's failure to elicit details or even put in an expert witness to offer the mathematical calculations showing the impossibility of Petitioner arriving at work in the timespan offered by the state. Petitioner was also prejudiced by counsel's refusal to cross-examine Turner on the accuracy of his claim that he made the drive in approximately twenty minutes. With that as the benchmark, the jury could have believed that Petitioner made the drive after supposedly shooting the decedent.

Had trial counsel pushed back or calculated the required speed for Turner to have completed the drive in that amount of time, the jury would have realized the impossibility of the state's timeframe and found Petitioner not guilty. The remaining evidence, including "lousy" eyewitness testimony which trial counsel repeatedly questioned at the evidentiary hearing, was not overwhelming. Petitioner is entitled to relief based upon trial counsel's ineffective representation regarding the alibi defense.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Petitioner respectfully requests that this Court grant the petition for writ of certiorari and allow further briefing on the issue raised herein.

A handwritten signature in black ink, appearing to read "Taylor D Gilliam", written over a horizontal line.

Taylor D Gilliam
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER