STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

CERTIORARI TO SUMTER COUNTY
Honorable R. Knox McMahon, Post-Conviction
Relief Judge

DEC 06 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2018-001507

WAYNE D. COOPER,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI
PURSUANT TO AUSTIN V. STATE**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

BRIANNA L. SCHILL
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 103380

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The PCR Court correctly found Counsel was constitutionally effective, where there was a confession made by Petitioner indicating he committed the crime, which was admitted at trial after a *Jackson v. Denno* hearing, where specific testimony regarding the timeline of events was provided by multiple witnesses, and where Counsel argued an alibi theory in closing arguments.

Petitioner alleges he was denied effective assistance of counsel due to a failure to fully develop the defense of alibi. This argument is without merit. Where the trial counsel articulates a valid reason for employing a certain trial strategy, such conduct should not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel.” Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 417 S.E.2d 529 (1992). Additionally, a fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel’s alleged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel’s perspective at the time. State v. Butler, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985), citing Strickland v. Washington, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 890 1E.2d 674 (1984). Because of the difficulties inherent in making the evaluation, a court must indulge a strong presumption that counsel’s conduct falls within the range of reasonable professional assistance. Id. Petitioner has not shown that Counsel was deficient in his choice of tactics. Counsel demonstrated a normal degree of skill, knowledge, and professional judgment that is expected of an attorney who practices criminal law.

Counsel testified he conducted a multi-year investigation into the case. Counsel testified he filed for and reviewed discovery with Petitioner. Counsel testified this was a difficult case to present an alibi defense because Petitioner confessed to shooting Victim in self-defense prior to Counsel’s representation. (App. 843). This confession as ruled as admissible evidence following a *Jackson v. Denno* hearing. (App. 170). However, Counsel testified at the PCR hearing Petitioner ultimately changed his story and claimed he was not present at the scene. (App. 843). Therefore,

Counsel had no other option but to pursue an alibi defense. However, Counsel also argued that it could be self-defense, due to the confession given by Petitioner. (App. 845). Counsel testified he tried to establish the case as a “telephone defense scenario.” (App. 845, l. 17-18). Counsel testified, “it was unfortunate that the defendant did not elect to pursue self-defense as his primary defense.” (App. 855, l. 1-2). Counsel testified it would have made more sense to argue self-defense because the defense would not have had to pin law enforcement against Petitioner and Derrick. (App. 855). However, at his trial, Petitioner denied making the statement to Officer Barron and denied there was any incident involving an altercation with Victim. (App. 630). Therefore, the Court denied charging the jury with a self-defense charge. (App. 845).

Counsel testified he did not have any reason to disbelieve Barron or Turner’s testimony about the time it took them to drive from the scene to Fire Mountain Grill. (App. 855, l. 6-9). Counsel testified he has cross-examined Investigator Barron on many occasions, and would have accused him of not telling the truth through cross-examination if he felt his testimony was questionable, as he had done so before. (App. 856, l. 12-20). Counsel testified he trusted Turner’s testimony because he had worked with Turner for over thirty years and never found Turner to tell “anything except the truth.” (App. 891, l. 16-20).

Counsel testified his trial strategy was to argue to the jury that the Petitioner could not have committed the crime. Counsel further testified he argued to the jury that the descriptions given by the two witnesses did not match either Petitioner or Derrick. This is made clear by the trial transcript. (See e.g. App. 626-630). Counsel further argued there were various descriptions of the car used to commit the crime. Counsel testified the video footage showed Petitioner clocked in for work at Fire Mountain Restaurant at 6:12 a.m. (App. 851). Counsel testified that the time-stamp on the video could have been incorrect, but he attempted to corroborate the time-stamp on

the footage by interviewing Petitioner and his brother Derrick about the time that they arrived. (App. 851-52). Counsel also indicated he attempted to subpoena the individuals in charge of the records, but was unsuccessful. (App. 852). Counsel testified much of the records had been destroyed and witnesses were unavailable. (App. 852, l. 12-17). Counsel testified he attempted to contact an individual named Chris Porter to see if he recalled encountering Petitioner in the parking lot as Petitioner arrived for work that day. (App. 847, l. 10-19). Counsel further testified that a call to 9-1-1 was made at approximately 5:58 a.m. Counsel testified he attempted to obtain information regarding other employees at Fire Mountain who could have established what time Petitioner had arrived that day. (App. 847). Counsel testified he did this to attempt to push the timeline as much as he could to support Applicant's defense. Counsel therefore argued that Petitioner could not have committed this crime given the time frame presented at trial.

Petitioner's argument is at best a speculative hindsight argument: that had Counsel explained to the jury the speed Petitioner would have had to drive to arrive at Fire Mountain by the approximate 6:12 a.m. time, Petitioner would have been acquitted. As previously discussed, the purpose of post-conviction relief matters is not to critique a trial counsel's performance by using hindsight. However, as Counsel testified, he attempted to establish the timeline such that it would have made it impossible for Petitioner to have committed the crime. Although Counsel did not cross-examine Jamie Turner regarding his excursions between the Cedar Hill Mobile Home Park and Fire Mountain Grill, Counsel examined Petitioner and Derrick extensively regarding the route they took to Fire Mountain Grill and the timing of their trip. (App. 545-70; 612-640). Additionally, Counsel testified that he had no reason to disbelieve Jamie Turner's testimony. Additionally, Wanda Rogers, Mary Green, Tameka Green, Theresa Green, and Investigator Erin Boland provided information that helped establish the most accurate timeline possible. (App. 225-

40; 278-85; 288-289). Counsel used this information to argue to the jury throughout his closing statement that it would have been difficult for Petitioner to have committed the crime. (See App. 716-740).

Petitioner compares his case to that of Martin v. State, 427 S.C. 450 (2019). However, Martin is fundamentally different than Petitioner's case in several respects. In Martin, this Court found trial counsel was ineffective for failing to elicit testimony from the Petitioner's mother, which would have established that he was 150 miles away from a bank one hour and five minutes before it was robbed. More specifically, the bank was robbed at approximately 12:20 p.m. on April 23, 2009. Id. at 453. Martin's mother testified at the petitioner's trial that she dropped him off at a bus stop on the morning of the bank robbery. Id. at 453. Trial counsel did not elicit testimony about the exact drop-off time, despite the fact that Martin's mother previously indicated to trial counsel that she recalled dropping him off at the bus stop at 11:15-11:30 a.m. Id. at 453. This Court found trial counsel was ineffective because trial counsel failed to elicit testimony from the mother regarding specific timing of the crime. However, that is not the case here. An approximate timeline of the crime itself was established by a combination of testimony from Green, Tameka, Theresa, Investigator Boland, and Investigator Turner. Importantly, Trial Counsel carefully examined Derrick and Petitioner regarding the timeline of their drive to work on the morning of the shooting, and it was determined they arrived at Fire Mountain Grill a few minutes before 6:12 a.m. The timeline established was as specific as it could be given the fact that no single individual could tell the exact time of when the shooting occurred.

Additionally, the evidence linking Petitioner to the crime in Petitioner's case is more significant than the evidence linking the petitioner to the crime in Martin. In Martin, the Court found it significant that the only evidence linking the petitioner was the testimony of other co-

defendants. Id. at 456. This is not the case here. The individuals who identified Petitioner were not petitioner's co-defendants. In fact, Petitioner's co-defendant, Derrick, testified for the defense. Additionally other circumstantial evidence pointed to Petitioner's guilt such as the fact that the car matching a rather specific description was found behind Petitioner's home, and the fact that Petitioner confessed to the crime.

Furthermore, trial counsel in Martin did not present an alibi defense in his closing argument, which is not the case here. In Petitioner's case, Counsel clearly established an alibi defense by developing a timeline through various witness testimony, and subsequently argued an alibi defense throughout his closing argument. For the reasons discussed above, Petitioner's case is fundamentally different than Martin.

Finally, Petitioner argues his case is similar to Walker v. State, 407 S.C. 400, 756 S.E.2d 144 (2014). However, once again, this case is distinguishable from Petitioner's case. In Walker, Counsel failed to elicit any testimony from the petitioner's girlfriend regarding a potential alibi. The girlfriend testified at the PCR hearing that she would have testified that she and Walker "spent every weekend together." Id. at 406. This Court determined, "if true and construed as meaning at least [the petitioner] and [the petitioner's girlfriend] spent every night together on the weekend's prior to his arrest, it would be physically impossible for [the petitioner] to commit [the crimes]." Id. at 406.